1940

James Latses and James Sdrales v. Nick Floor, Inc. : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

On and prior to September 25, 1933, down, to May 31, 1939, the property involved in this suit, 79 West 2nd South Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, was owned: W. P. Noble Company one half, Ford E. Hovey and Willard H. Dressler, Trustees, one-fourth and William Frederick Bragg, Robert Russell Bragg, Frederick Ingham Bragg, Laura Lillian Harkins and Laura I. Bragg, one-fourth and, on May 31, 1939, they conveyed it by general warranty deed, with a special warranty of immediate possession to the plaintiffs, who on June 2, 1939, served a notice on the defendant to deliver up to plaintiffs the possession of said premises on or before July 1, 1939. The defendant having refused to deliver possession of said premises to the plaintiffs, they brought this suit in unlawful detainer. (Ab. 1) The defendant answered, alleging that

on September 25, 1933, it entered into a written agreement with the Stockyards National Bank of South Omaha, a corporation, the W. P. Noble Company, a corporation, and the Fred Bragg Estate, as lessors, executed by A. H. Ball, Agent, whereby said lessors leased the premises, 79 West 2nd South Street, to the defendant for three years at a monthly rental of \$75.00 a month; that said lease agreement provided that if the defendant should, prior to May 25, 1935, expend \$1,000.00 in permanent improvements he could lease said premises for an additional five years at a monthly rental of \$90.00 a month, and that defendant had made such expenditure and election. Defendant further alleged in its answer that said lease provides, "either party agrees to pay all costs and attorney's fees and expenses incurred by the other that shall arise from enforcing the covenants of this lease, "and alleged that \$500.00 was a reasonable attorneys' fee.

The alleged lease is attached as an exhibit (Ab. 11).

The plaintiffs, in their reply, admitted that Ball had signed the alleged lease, and denied he had any authority from the owners, or any of them, and alleged the lease is void under the provisions of Sections 33-5-1 and 33-5-3, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, and denied that the defendant had expended \$1,000.00 on permanent improvements on said premises or that it had exercised its option to extend said alleged lease.

The defendant then filed a pleading, alleging the plaintiffs were estopped from denying Ball's authority because the rent had been paid as provided in the lease

and that the owners all knew defendant had expended \$1,000.00 on improvements and that plaintiffs and their predecessors knew of the lease and improvements and had ratified the actions of A. H. Ball. (Ab. 18).

To this the plaintiffs, in their second reply, admitted the receipt of the rent and denied all other allegations. (Ab. 20).

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

The appellants assign forty-two errors on which they seek a reversal. They may be summarized as follows:

The court erred in receiving in evidence the alleged lease, exhibit 28 (Ab. 76); Assignment No. 17 (Ab. 116); Exhibits 25, 26, 27, 29, 30, (Ab. 26, 30); Assignment No. 17 (Ab. 116), and Exhibits 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39 and 40 (Ab. 90-96); Assignments No. 21 (Ab. 117) and Exhibits 5, 4, 4-A, 2, 6, 7, 7-A, 8, 9, 10, 1, 3, 10-A, 11, 12, 13, 14 (Ab. 54-56). Assignment No. 10 (Ab. 115); Exhibits 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22 and 23 (Ab. 59); Assignment No. 10 (Ab. 115).

The court erred in overruling plaintiffs' objection to testimony (Ab. 45, 101), Assignments Nos. 1 to 28 (Ab. 114-117), and especially the wide scope of cross examination of witness, R. Gould-Smith (Ab. 46-61), Assignments Nos. 1-21 (Ab. 114-116); the direct examination questions to A. H. Ball over plaintiffs' objection (Ab. 68-80), Assignments 12-17; and overruling of objection to testimony of Nick Floor (Ab. 88-101), Assignments No. 17 to 28 (Ab. 116-118); overruling the objec-

tion to evidence of H. Arnold Rich (Ab. 98.), Assignment No. 26 (Ab. 117).

The court erred:

In making each and every one of its findings of fact, 1 to 9 inclusive (Ab. 22-36); Assignments Nos. 29 to 36, inclusive, (Ab. 118-120).

In making each and every one of its conclusions of law, 1 to 5, inclusive, (Ab. 37-39); Assignments No. 37-41 inclusive, (Ab. 120).

In rendering judgment in favor of the defendant and against the plaintiffs (Ab. 39); Assignments No. 42 (Ab. 121) and rendering judgment for attorney's fees.

QUESTIONS INVOLVED

The questions involved are:

1. Was the alleged three year lease valid (Ab. 11) which purported to be executed by the Stockyards National Bank of South Omaha, W. P. Noble Company and the Fred Bragg Estate, by A. H. Ball, Agent, when it was stipulated (Ab. 44) the owners, at the time the lease was executed, were W. P. Noble Company, a corporation, one-half interest, Ford E. Hovey and Willard H. Dressler, Trustees, one-fourth interest, William Frederick Bragg, Robert Russell Bragg, Frederick Ingham Bragg, Laura Lillian Harkins and Laura I. Bragg one-fourth interest, and when it was pleaded that the lease was void under the statute of frauds, sections 33-5-1, and 33-5-3, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933 and it was objected to because one co-tenant could not give a valid lease to the whole property?

2. Did the defendant place permanent improvements of the value of \$1,000.00 on the leased premises prior to May 25, 1935, and elect to continue said lease five additional years, as was provided in said alleged lease?

3. If the lease is held to be valid, was the defendant entitled to recover attorneys' fees against the grantees of only one of the parties (the W. P. Noble Company), designated as lessors in said alleged lease, and the plaintiffs' herein?

I.

THE ALLEGED LEASE WAS VOID BECAUSE A. H. BALL WAS NOT AUTHORIZED IN WRITING TO EXECUTE A LEASE.

A. H. Ball testified that his father, who died in June, 1930, had collected the rentals on the Eagle Block for many years and that Walker T. Gunter acted with his father in handling the affairs of the building and he signed all leases as witness (Ab. 69). That for several months during his father's illness, under Mr. Gunter's orders, he had collected the rentals and made the reports of rentals collected. (Ab. 70, 71). And he saw Mr. Gunter as a rule, every day in connection with the estate. (Ab. 71). That at the time of his father's death Mr. Gould-Smith of the Noble Company came to the funeral. While he was here, "We met with Mr. Gunter at his office and Mr. Gould-Smith said, 'Just take and handle the property as my father had' (Ab. 80) I wrote Mr. Gould-Smith of things to be done in connection with

building. I consulted with Mr. Gunter all the time, (Ab. 81), and in a conversation with Mr. Gould-Smith at Miss Noble's home, he said 'Go ahead and collect the rents and they would decide later what they were going to do.''' When Mr. Gould-Smith left for home he said, "You go right on and do things as your father had." (Ab. 86)

"Walker T. Gunter wrote a letter to each, The Stockyards National Bank of South Omaha, Mr. Brome an attorney in Wyoming to whom rent due the Braggs was transmitted, and Mr. Gould-Smith, advising that I be continued. I saw the letters he received in reply or he read them to me. I saw a letter from Mr. Smith. The letters advised Mr. Gunter that "I knowing all about the property, and he advised it would be logical to have me go and handle the work, the same as my father had." (Ab. 72). "I think the letter from Mr. Brome was written in long hand. I think it was signed C. L. Brome. I can't say whether the Bragg Estate was mentioned in the letter. I would say that Dressler's letter was typewritten. I couldn't say that the Stockyards National Bank of South Omaha was mentioned. Mr. Hovey's name was not mentioned in this letter." (Ab. 86).

"The letter from Mr. Smith was received by me in August or September and I gave it to Mr. Gunter. My wife saw it." (Ab. 82.) Mrs. Ball said she read the letter which stated, "he was very sorry on the death of Art's father and asked if Art would continue to carry on the work that his father had previously done. That was all there was in it. I don't think it mentioned the Eagle Block." (Ab. 84) Mr. Ball testified that the letters had

been burned or destroyed by Mr. Gunter's folks after his death.

Then Mr. Ball produced exhibits 25, 26 and 27, which purported to be leases on parts of the Eagle Block, leasing store rooms for three years, which had been signed by H. T. Ball and witnessed by Walker T. Gunter, and, over plaintiffs' objection, the court received in evidence these leases, (Ab. 74; Assignment No. 17, Ab. 116).

Mr. Dressler said, "I don't think I wrote a letter to A. H. Ball, after his father's death, that I desired or requested said A. H. Ball to collect the rents and look after the property as his father had done". (Ab. 62).

Mr. Gould-Smith testified he was secretary and treasurer of the W. P. Noble Company, and resides in San Francisco. That Mr. H. T. Ball had collected the rentals of the Eagle Block since 1909. "Shortly after his death, in June, 1930, Mr. Gunter and I verbally employed his son, A. H. Ball as agent. Mr. Gunter died September 23, 1933. Until his death, he and I were consulted on all matters of importance, and after his death Mr. Ball consulted with me by mail frequently. Mr. Ball was allowed \$60.00 a month. He reported his collections monthly and reported the collections by the street number, not by the name of the tenant. He never mentioned he gave a lease." (Ab. 51).

While the direct examination of Mr. Gould-Smith had been limited, the court, over plaintiffs' objection, threw wide open the cross examination. (Ab. 45-62; Assignments Nos. 1 to 13, Ab. 114, 115), and permitted

the questions to go far afield from the subject of the direct examination.

There is not a scintilla of evidence that the Senior Ball ever had written authority to make leases. The testimony was that he and Mr. Gunter made a few leases for a period exceeding a year. Under the authorities, this was not any proof of written authorization to A. H. Ball to execute this lease. The case of *Darke v. Smith*, 14 Utah 35, 45 P. 1006 is decisive. We quote from p. 1009:

“The defendant testified that in April, 1884, he received a letter from his father, who was then in Arizona, and afterwards lost it in moving. Jane L. Smith testified that she read the letter; that it was Lot Smith’s writing; that her son let her read it; that intestate stated in it that he wanted the defendant to take possession of the land, and make him a home, and he would give him a deed to it; that the letter mentioned the land. It referred to the land he owned in Weber. He owned other land there. Two other witnesses corroborate the defendant and Jane L. Smith in some material respects. While the letter, as remembered by the witnesses, does not contain a description of the land in dispute, or refer to it with reasonable certainty, the testimony of the witnesses, taken in connection with the letter, indicates that the land in dispute was intended. We think this letter was not sufficiently definite and certain as a writing to take the transaction out of the statute of frauds.”

In *Abba v. Smyth*, a Utah case, 59 P. 756, 21 Utah 109, the first paragraph of the syllabus is as follows:

“Under section 2647, Rev. St., unless the es-

sential terms of the contract can be determined from the contract itself, it is within the statute of frauds; and, if thus defective, the defect cannot be supplied by parol proof, for by admitting parol testimony to supply the essential parts of the contract, would be to restore the mischief which the enactment of the statute of frauds was framed to prevent.”

In *Adams v. Manning*, 46 Utah 82, 148 P. 465, the fourth paragraph of the syllabus is as follows:

“Where a contract for the sale of 30 acres of land did not designate the property, and the grantor owned considerable land, mere possession of a particular parcel by letting stock graze thereon will not take the case out of the statute of frauds by identifying the land.”

“A written memorandum stating that it is agreed by the parties that each of them can sell certain lots, ‘and each party has the privilege to sell each lot at \$250.00, which shall pay Mr. Ringer in full for said lots, and if sale is not made within 16 days Mr. H. is to pay to Mr. Ringer the original price agreed upon’ between them is insufficient, within the statute of frauds, when the agreement as to the original price is oral.” Syllabus

Ringer v. Holtzclaw, 20 S. W. 800

“Where, in an assignment of a lease, there is no agreement by the assignor to put the assignee in possession of the leased property, oral evidence is not permissible to show that prior to the execution of the assignment the assignor made such agreement. Parol evidence is not permissible to supply defects in a written contract, which, by the statute of frauds, is required to be in writing.”

Syllabus, *Boyd v. Paul*, 28 S. W. 171.

“The written authorization from the owner, in order that it may be sufficient to permit the owner to enter into a binding contract of lease, must express within its terms the intention of the owner to confer upon the agent complete authority to do so. The mere employment by the owner of an agent to lease his real property will usually be held insufficient as a grant of power to execute a binding lease.”

27 C. J. 298, last par. sec. 376

An agent received from an owner of a lot a letter asking the agent “to see what he could do about selling the lot”, etc., but it did not authorize the agent to sell the lot. Agent made written contract to sell the lot to Lennox and recorded the contract. A day or two later the owner of the lot sold it to Johnson who entered upon the property and made valuable improvements. Lennox sued Johnson, et al to compel specific performance. He lost his case.

Court held the letter gave the agent no power or authority to sell the lot and further held that one dealing with an agent *was bound at his peril* to learn the extent of the agent’s authority.

Johnson v. Lennox, 133 P. 744 (Colo.)

In the case of *Salter v. Ives, et al*, (Cal.) 155 P. 84, the owner of the property wrote to an agent authorizing him to negotiate a lease and setting forth the terms of the lease, and it was held that the mere employment by the owner of an agent to sell or lease the property is usually insufficient as a grant of power to execute a binding conveyance or lease, and it was further held that a binding lease must be executed by the owners.

An agent, with oral authority to sell land, wrote to his principal that he had sold a part of it and the principal made a deed for the land sold and wrote the agent, "I am glad you have sold 80 acres; now sell the 40." It was held that this "is wholly insufficient to constitute such a written memorandum of the contract of sale as would have bound Feger" * * * * "It was wholly insufficient to identify the 40 acres intended to be sold. And although both the principal and the agent may have understood that it was the 40 acres of the principal's farm that lay south of the road, that fact lies wholly outside of the written authority, and cannot be added to it by parol."

Johnson v. Fecht, 83 S. W. 1077 (p. 1079)

"A letter to an agent, saying, 'As you stated you could get \$30,000 for the place you occupy * * * * and if you can, we will sell at that price * * * * and allow you two and one-half per cent on said price—merely authorizes the agent to find a purchaser, but not to sell; and a contract by the agent to sell confers no rights on the purchaser.'"

Syllabus, Grant v. Ede, 24 P. 890

On certain property a company was given "the full management and control thereof, with power to collect the rents and income therefrom, to pay the taxes, insurance premiums and other fixed charges incident thereto and to make all necessary repairs and to do all other things which second party (the Guardian Savings & Trust Co.) deems necessary or advisable in the proper

management of said property.” The court held this was insufficient, saying:

“It is significant, too, that nowhere in the enumeration of the powers delegated to the agent is any express power conferred to execute any lease whatever” * * * *

Lithograph Bldg. Co. v. Watt, 117
N. E., p. 28

The owner of land wrote his attorney, saying he would take \$200.00 for certain timber land, if removed in a year, and “if this is satisfactory to the buyers you may close the deal.” Held, this is not sufficient authority for the agent to make a contract of sale. The court said:

“We are of the opinion that the authority of a real estate agent or broker to bind the principal by a contract of sale should clearly and unequivocally appear before the latter can be held.”

LaPlant v. Loveland, 170 N. W. 920

“The contract must be complete in itself and leave nothing to rest in parol. And it must be certain and definite as to the parties, property, consideration, premises and time of performance.”

Cooper v. Pierson, 180 N. W. 351

Other authorities holding that the mere employment of an agent to rent real property does not authorize the agent to enter into a long-term lease, are:

Miller v. Shaw, 195 P. 743

Campbell v. Galloway, 47 N. E. 620

Perky v. Harding, 123 N. W. 69

Farley v. Fair, 256 P. 1031

It is apparent that Ball’s authority, being in parol,

he could not grant a lease for more than one year without the written approval of his principals. Gunter's approval had always been secured by Ball's father, and by Ball, prior to this lease.

To summarize briefly, the evidence as to the contents of the alleged letters shows conclusively that they were insufficient as a writing because, (a) they did not identify the property. Ball testified they said "for him to carry on as his father did." He did not testify that they named the property. Mrs. Ball testified that she could not recall whether "Eagle Block" was mentioned in the alleged Smith letter. Therefore, the description of the property would have to be supplied by oral testimony, which under the authorities cited, is not admissible; (b) To "carry on as his father did," there is no evidence that the father had any written authority and it is a novel proposition to say that while the agent acting did not have written authority he may act because he is authorized to act as his predecessor did, even though the predecessor had no written authority. Under the defendant's contention, Ball could have made a lease for 99 years as well as for 8 years. There is no limitation to this authority which it is alleged jumps from father to son and gains force with each jump. So we have here the whole question of authority to be supplied by oral evidence and nothing intimating that the father had written authority. Therefore, it follows conclusively that if Ball "may act as his father did," there is no evidence that the father had written authority; therefore, there is not sufficient writing to comply with the statute, and

even if no written authorization were required they have failed, because the father acted with Walker T. Gunter, and Gunter was not consulted here.

(c) The evidence does not show that the alleged letters were signed by the owners of the property, or any of them. Ball testified that Gunter received a letter from Dressler, but did not say Dressler signed it. He did testify that neither Hovey nor the Stockyards National Bank of South Omaha was mentioned. Both Mr. and Mrs. Ball testified a letter was received from Mr. Smith. They did not say it was signed W. P. Noble Company, by Mr. Smith or by Mr. Smith personally. The signatures of the parties are essential. None of the Braggs signed anything, and it was not shown that Brome, the lawyer to whom collections were remitted, had any authority to lease the property, nor were the signatures of any other person shown to have been subscribed to the mythical letters.

Clearly the Court erred in overruling the plaintiffs' objections to the introduction of the lease (Exhibit 28) because there was no written authority and the parties named as lessors in the lease were not the owners (Ab. 76; Assignment No. 17, Ab. 116). Clearly the court erred in overruling plaintiffs' objections to the oral evidence endeavoring to show authority in A. H. Ball (Ab. 67-80, Assignment Nos. 14 to 19, Ab. 116), and the testimony as to the contents of the letters (Ab. 67-80, Assignment Nos. 14 to 19, Ab. 116).

II.

THE ALLEGED LEASE WAS VOID, BECAUSE IT
WAS NOT EXECUTED BY OR ON BEHALF
OF ALL THE OWNERS.

It was stipulated (Ab. 44) that the owners of the property, at and prior to the time of the alleged lease, were the W. P. Noble Company, a corporation, owning a one-half interest; Willard H. Dressler and Ford E. Hovey, Trustees, owning a one-fourth interest; William Frederick Bragg, Robert Russell Bragg, Frederick Ingham Bragg, Laura Lillian Harkins and Laura I. Bragg, owning an undivided one-fourth interest. The lessors of the alleged lease were the Stockyards National Bank of South Omaha, the W. P. Noble Company, both corporations, and the Fred Bragg estate, and these names were signed to the lease as lessors by A. H. Ball, Agent (Ab. 11).

No one co-tenant has the power to make a lease to the entire property without the other co-tenants. Such a lease would be an attempted eviction by one co-tenant of his co-tenants. This principle was well illustrated in the case of *Howard v. Manning*, 192 P. 358, and we quote paragraphs 10 and 12, beginning on page 361, as follows:

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