1940

James Latses and James Sdrales v. Nick Floor, Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

In
The Supreme Court
of the
State of Utah

JAMES LATSES AND
JAMES SDRALES,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

vs.

NICK FLOOR, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent.

Appeal From the Third District Court of Utah,
for Salt Lake County
Honorable P. C. Evans, Judge

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

This appeal involves a controversy between the plaintiffs, the appellants, and Nick Floor, Inc., the defendant and respondent, as to the possession of a certain storeroom — the first-floor and basement at 79 West Second South street, being the northwest corner of what is known as the Eagle building or block situate at the southeast corner of Second South and West Temple streets, Salt Lake City. With respect thereto, the plaintiffs claim

title and possession of the premises through warranty deeds from the then owners of the Eagle Block executed May 31, 1939, including the premises in question. The defendant claims possession of the storeroom and basement by virtue of a certain lease executed and delivered to it by the then owners of the Eagle Block on September 25, 1933, for a period of three years, with an option on conditions stated in the lease for an additional period of five years, or to and including September 25, 1941, the said lease being executed and delivered by an admitted agent of the then owners of the block.

PLAINTIFFS FAILED TO PROVE THEIR ALLEGED CAUSE.

By the complaint of the plaintiffs it was alleged, (Ab. 1), that on or about September 25, 1933, the then owners of the Eagle block leased and demised the premises in question to the defendant "from month to month at a monthly rental of \$70.00 payable monthly in advance, and that on or about the 1st day of May, 1935, by mutual agreement, the rental was fixed at \$90.00 per month; and that by virtue of such lease the defendant went into possession of the said premises and still continues to hold and occupy the same;" that on May 31, 1939, the premises by warranty deed were conveyed to the plaintiffs by the owners of the Eagle Block, who then became and ever since have been the owners thereof, and that on June 2, 1939, the plaintiffs in writing demanded possession of the premises on or before July 1, 1939, which the defendant refused to surrender; hence this action for restitution and damages.

The defendant demurred generally and specially to the complaint, which was overruled, and then answered, denying the lease and the terms and

conditions thereof as alleged in the complaint, or that any lease was made from month to month, or that defendant went into possession of or occupied the premises in virtue or in pursuance of any such lease, as alleged in the complaint; and averred that a written lease was entered into September 25, 1933, by the terms of which the premises in question were demised and leased to the defendant for a period of three years at an agreed rental of \$75.00 per month, and with the further stipulation stated in the lease that for and in consideration of the defendant making permanent improvements in and upon the premises to the amount of \$1,000.00 on or before May 1, 1935, the defendant was given possession of the premises for an additional period of five years from September 25, 1936, at a rental of \$90.00 per month for and during such additional five years; that the defendant, prior to May 1, 1935, made such permanent improvements to the value in excess of \$1,000.00, and since September 25, 1936, paid to the owners of the building the rental of \$90.00 a month and as in the lease stipulated; and that under and in pursuance of such lease and not otherwise, the defendant entered into and continued in possession of the premises; a copy of the lease, (Ab. 11), was attached to the answer and made a part thereof.

To that the plaintiffs replied, (Ab. 15) that the lease attached to the defendant's answer was void under Section 33-5-1 and 33-5-2, R. S. 1933, because not executed by the owners, the predecessors of the plaintiffs, or by anyone in writing authorized so to do; and further alleged that the defendant had not expended the sum of \$1,000.00, or any sum, in permanent improvements and had not at any time exercised the pretended option referred to in the lease. The defendant then further answered. (Ab. 16), pleading an estoppel, consisting of about four pages of the printed abstract, to which

reference is hereby made, to which pleaded estoppel the plaintiffs filed a general denial.

Upon these issues the case came on for trial before the court without a jury. The court made specific and complete findings on all of the issues in favor of the defendant and against the plaintiffs, (Ab. 22-37). We refer to the findings in the main as a complete answer to the appellant's brief wherein the findings are given but scant consideration. True, assignments are made with respect to most of them. But see (Appellants' brief, 44) how feeble consideration is given them as to insufficiency of evidence to support them, or as pointing out particulars wherein it is claimed the evidence is insufficient.

The appellants, however, say the court erred in finding No. 1, "that on September 25, 1933, the Stockyards National Bank of South Omaha, W. P. Noble Company and the Bragg Estate by and through their agent, A. H. Ball," leased and demised the premises in question to the defendant. The lease attached to the defendant's answer was so executed. It so states. Let the Court look at it. (Ab. 11-14). There is no dispute as to that. It was the only lease put in evidence. It was the only lease under which the evidence showed the defendant took and continued in possession and was in possession when notice was served on it to vacate the leased premises. As to that, the plaintiffs replied, not that the lease was not executed by an agent, as in the findings stated, but that the lease was void — that it was nothing, — because A. H. Ball, the admitted agent of the grantors of the plaintiffs, had no authority *in writing* to execute it. The defendant denied that, and by its additional answer for reasons therein stated, pleaded an es-

toppel as to both the grantors of the plaintiffs and as to the plaintiffs themselves, which estoppel by their further reply was denied by the plaintiffs.

In this connection some stagger of complaint is also made as to findings Nos. 2 and 3. Let them be read in the abstract. No complaint is made that the court by such findings did not properly reflect the essentials of the plaintiffs' complaint, or of any of the pleadings as hereinbefore noted, or that the lease as alleged in the complaint was not personally entered into by and between the predecessors of the plaintiffs and the defendant, or that the court incorrectly stated, that by the complaint of the plaintiffs it was averred that the defendant "by virtue of such lease (as alleged in the complaint) went into possession of the said premises and still continues to hold and occupy the same." As is seen, the court specifically found that no evidence was adduced to show the existence or the making of any such lease, as so alleged in the plaintiffs' complaint; that the allegations of such a lease were wholly unsupported by any evidence. But the appellants complain of such finding. Nowhere do they point out any evidence adduced by them in support of such a lease. As to the kind of lease alleged in the plaintiffs' complaint the record is barren of any evidence. Whether the plaintiffs may wholly abandon the kind of lease so alleged by them and rely for recovery upon the lease alleged by the defendant, will presently be noted. The point now being considered is that the complaints made by the appellants that finding No. 2 with respect to the pleadings and finding No. 3 with respect to the want of evidence to support the lease alleged in the plaintiffs' complaint, are wholly groundless; and no evidence—not anything—is pointed to by the appellants to support their contention that such findings are not supported. What conclusion is to be deduced from

such findings is another matter and will presently be considered.

Let it first be noted what the facts are, and as found by the court in such particular. Counsel's argument on conclusions based on groundless challenges of such findings does not get them anywhere. Counsel do not consider the case upon findings 2 or 3 as made by the court. They, in effect, now say that no reliance is placed upon the lease as alleged in the complaint of plaintiffs, and no claim now made that the defendant, as alleged by the plaintiffs, went into possession or occupied the premises, "in virtue of such lease," as in the complaint alleged. They now in effect proceed on the theory as an abandonment of the lease pleaded by them, and now claim that the defendant went into possession and occupied the premises for a period of nearly six years in virtue of the lease pleaded by the defendant but which the plaintiffs averred was absolutely void, notwithstanding the pleaded and found part performance and estoppel.

In this connection, let us now look at the conclusions of law with respect to findings 2 and 3. By conclusion of law No. 1 (Ab. 37), the court stated that the plaintiffs, to recover, were required to do so upon the case made by their complaint, and not upon one which may have been developed by proof, and as no such case as alleged by the plaintiffs was established by evidence, and as no judgment could be rendered in favor of the plaintiffs except on proof establishing the cause of action as alleged by the plaintiffs in their complaint, it followed, that the complaint against the defendant had to be dismissed for want of evidence to sustain the cause of action as alleged in the complaint.

By conclusion No. 2, (Ab. 37), the court further stated that the plaintiffs were not entitled to support their cause of action by recourse to the alleged

lease in the defendant's answer and the evidence adduced by the defendant in support thereof, for that the plaintiffs by their verified replies to the defendant's answer denied the existence, validity and binding effect of the lease as so alleged in the defendant's answer, declared that such lease under the statute of frauds was absolutely void, and that in such case the court stated a plaintiff could not aid his cause by recourse to material allegations of his adversary, which, as here, by replies, were specifically denied and by evidence of the plaintiffs controverted.

It is thus seen that no evidence whatever was given to sustain the lease as alleged in the complaint of plaintiffs, and the plaintiffs, having denied the alleged lease pleaded in the answer of the defendant and by evidence controverted its existence, cannot now as an aid to their cause of action avail themselves of the allegations in such respect contained in the answer, nor the evidence given with respect thereto, and particularly may not now accept a part and reject a part thereof, or seek to avail themselves of what in such particular they deem suitable and repudiate and reject or hold for naught what may be deemed unfavorable to them.

It, of course, is familiar doctrine that a mere imperfect or defective complaint or pleading often is and may be aided by a pleading of the adversary.

1 Bancroft Code Pl., Sec. 737, p. 1035.

Robbins v. Duggins, 61 Utah 542; 216 Pac.
232.

But just as well is it established that a plaintiff may not rely upon a pleading of his adversary where he has denied in his reply the allegations which he later relies on for assistance.

1 Bancroft Code Pl., Sec. 738, p. 1038.

Worley v. Peterson, (Utah); 12 Pac. (2d) 579, on rehearing p. 587.

Mantle v. White, 47 Mont. 234; 132 Pac. 22.

Greenberg v. German-American Ins. Co., 83 Ore. 660; 160 Pac. 536.

Just as well is it established and it is just as fundamental that a plaintiff must recover, if at all, upon the case made by his complaint, and not upon a case which may be developed by proof; and that a judgment cannot be sustained, unless the proof establishes the cause of action alleged in the complaint, even though a different cause of action may be fully proved.

1 Bancroft Code Pl., 984,

and numerous cases there cited in support thereof. Such holding is in line with the well established and familiar rule or maxim, *allegatta et probata*; allegations and proof must correspond. This Court in numerous cases has frequently so applied the rule.

Nor can the plaintiffs help themselves by claiming a mere variance, *for that the claim or cause of action alleged in the complaint is unsupported by any evidence*, not in some mere particular or particulars, but unsupported in its general scope and meaning, and hence, the case may not be deemed a variance, *but a failure of proof*.

R. S. 1933, Sec. 104-14-2.

This is particularly true, for that the lease alleged in the defendant's answer is adverse to any kind of a lease alleged in the plaintiffs' complaint. As heretofore stated, the only evidence as to the making of any lease is that contained in the defendant's answer. But the plaintiffs say such lease is absolutely void and is for naught. There being no evidence to sustain any other lease in fact, or one as in the complaint alleged, it follows that the plaintiffs' alleged cause of action stands unsupported by

evidence, and hence, is wholly insufficient to support any kind of judgment *on the cause of action as in the complaint alleged.*

We know counsel in their brief in effect abandon their complaint and the lease as therein alleged, point to no evidence which supports that kind of a lease, no longer claim that the defendant went into possession of the leased premises as alleged by them in virtue of the lease as stated in the complaint, but now assert that the defendant went and for six years continued in possession under the lease pleaded by it in its answer, which lease the plaintiffs now assert was absolutely void, because by its terms being a lease for more than one year and it not being shown that A. H. Ball, the admitted agent of the predecessors and grantors of the plaintiffs, who had exclusive charge and management of the premises and who as such agent made the lease in the name of and for the use and benefit of such predecessors, had authority *in writing* to make such a lease, and therefore it was absolutely void, and thus the plaintiffs as they assume could not change their position and assert that the defendant, instead of entering into the possession of the premises in virtue of the lease set forth in the complaint, did so in virtue of the lease set forth in the defendant's answer, which now as they assert gives the plaintiffs as the grantee of such predecessors, the right in law to treat and regard the possession of the defendant as a mere tenant from month to month, which tenancy by giving notice, could be terminated at any time and the defendant dispossessed of the premises, regardless of part performance by the defendant or of benefits received by the predecessors of the plaintiffs or even by the plaintiffs themselves.

Whatever merit there may be to such a contention, which presently will be considered, still, no

such cause of action or one on any such a theory is pleaded in the complaint of the plaintiffs. As has been seen, what is alleged by the plaintiffs in their complaint is that their predecessors and grantors made and entered into a lease with the defendant, leasing and demising the premises to it from month to month at \$70.00 a month and nearly two years thereafter "by mutual agreement" between the parties, the rental was increased to \$90.00, and "by virtue of such a lease, (not by virtue of any other lease), the defendant went into possession of the premises and still continues to hold and occupy the same," until the filing of the plaintiffs' complaint in this action, on or about August 22, 1939, a period of nearly six years. It is difficult to conceive two theories more inconsistent with each other than the one alleged in the complaint and the one in the defendant's answer and denied by the plaintiffs by their reply, and who now in effect seek assistance by what was solemnly denied by them. No such liberality in pleadings — to permit one to recover on what is denied by him — may be indulged by the most optimistic reformer without casting to the wind the very basic and fundamental principles of pleadings and to ignore the use and purpose of them.

And further, it indisputably was shown that the plaintiffs, prior to their purchase of the Eagle Block, including the premises in question, had not only constructive notice, but had actual knowledge, of the defendant's lease and knew that the defendant was in possession in pursuance thereof, had different conversations with the defendant concerning it, had examined a copy of the lease with their counsel, knew and were told that the term period of the lease had not expired until September, 1941 (Ab. 97, 108; Tr. 313, 379, 381), and of course, having examined the lease, the plaintiffs knew of

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